# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI SOUTHERN DISTRICT

JESSICA (MCLEOD) MENARD

APPELLANT

VERSUS

÷ · · •

CAUSE NO: 2005-1064-JB

ANTHONY SCOTT MCLEOD

APPELLEE

## **APPEAL FROM CHANCERY COURT**

# BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

Elliot Mestayer Mestayer & Associates P.A. 2128 Ingalls Ave Pascagoula, MS 39567 228.762.1193 Ba

# **

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error in determining there was ambiguity in the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement concerning educational expenses.
- Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error by applying erroneous legal standard to educational expenses portion of the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement.
- Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error in not awarding tuition payment as an extraordinary expense under Section 43-19-103 of the Mississippi Code.
- Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error in failing to hold the Appellee in Contempt of Court for non-payment of past due medical expenses.
- 5. Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error when denying an increase in child support despite clear documentation and testimony concerning the Appellee's income.
- Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error by not granting the relief requested by the Appellant in her Amended Motion under Rule 60(b).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Parties were divorced by the Jackson County Chancery Court on July 8, 2005

on the grounds of Irreconcilable Differences. The Child Custody, Child Support and

Property Settlement Agreement provides, in relevant parts, the following:

"JESSICA MICHELLE MCLEOD shall have sole paramount legal and physical care, custody and control of the minor child of the parties..." (Page 5 of the Judgment of Divorce – Exhibit 1)

"Husband shall pay to the Wife as child support the sum of Three hundred fifty and no/100's (\$350.00) per month,... Every year, Husband shall provide a copy of his federal and state tax returns to Wife no later than ten (10) days after filing same." (Page 6 of the Judgment of Divorce)

"...Husband and Wife shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of all medical, dental, ocular and pharmaceutical expenses of the minor child of the parties not covered by insurance. All such uncovered bills received by the Wife shall be submitted to the Husband for payment within thirty (30) days, and Husband shall reimburse the Wife for any such bills within (30) days after the receipt of the bills" (Page 7 of the Judgment of Divorce)

"Husband and Wife shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of all school and extracurricular expenses incurred by the minor child including but not limited to the cost of books, activity fees, lab fees, school uniforms, tuition, and sports equipment." (Page 7 of the Judgment of Divorce)

Since the Divorce, the Appellant filed two Motions for Contempt and Modification. On February 13, 2009, Chancellor Bradley found the Appellee in Contempt for failure to pay child support but denied the Appellant's request for additional child support. The child support has not been increased or modified in any way since the date of the Final Decree of Divorce.

The Appellant filed a Motion for Contempt and Modification on October 15, 2009 and M.R.C.P. Rule 60(b) Motion was filed on November 12, 2009. No Answer was received to the Motion for Contempt or Amended Motion for Contempt under Rule 60(b).

Appellant requested that the Court find the Appellee in Contempt for harassing the minor child's medical providers, failure to provide complete tax returns, and failure to pay his portion of the minor child's medical expenses, educational expenses and extracurricular activities as provided in the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement and Judgment of Divorce granted on July 8, 2005. Appellant also requested the Court set aside its Order of February 13, 2009 to the extent that it denied an increase in child support based upon newly discovered information reflecting the Appellee had approximately 50% higher income than was disclosed during the first Contempt trial (Amended Motion under Rule 60(b)). Appellant also requested an increase in child support due to increased costs in raising the child.

This case was originally set on November 19, 2009 but was continued to January 11, 2010 at 9:00 a.m. at the request of the Appellee. Neither the Appellee nor his counsel appeared at 9:00 a.m. The Court called the Appellee's counsel to no avail. So the Chancellor began taking testimony of the Appellant at 9:20 a.m. The Appellee and his counsel showed up around 9:30 a.m. This case was not finished on January 11, 2010 and had to be continued until April 23, 2010.

Jessica McLeod Menard, Appellant, Anthony Scott McLeod, Appellee, Cammie Harrison, Appellant's mother, Ann (Lisa) Garrison, Appellant's friend, and Caterra Payton, principal of Central Elementary, testified at trial.

On May 19, 2010, Chancellor Bradley entered her Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Final Judgment. The Chancellor refused to hold the Appellee in Contempt "for failure to produce tax records, harassment, pay past due medical expenses, or pay educational expenses", failed to order him to pay past due medical expenses, failed to order him to pay the educational costs of the minor, failed to increase past child support under Rule 60(b) and denied the Appellant's request for an increase in child support. The Chancellor decreed that the Property Settlement Agreement was ambiguous and decided that the term "tuition" as used therein only refers to college tuition.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor erred in not finding the Defendant in willful contempt of the Judgment of Divorce failure to pay one-half of the minor's school expenses. The Chancellor's finding that the term "tuition" is ambiguous is unjustified after reading the plain language of the Agreement. The documents admitted into evidence, without objection, clearly established beyond any reasonable doubt that the Appellee had the clear and unambiguous obligation to pay for one-half of the minor's tuition and the ability to pay said tuition. The Appellee had in fact refused, in writing, to comply with this part of the Final Decree of Divorce. Since the language of the Property Settlement Agreement was clear, the Chancellor was without authority to re-write the agreement.

If Chancellor was correct in finding an ambiguity in the Property Settlement Agreement, the Court was bound to apply the Four Corners Doctrine. Instead of using the language of the divorce agreement to glean the intent of the parties, the Chancellor employed a subjective standard. The Court was obligated to enforce the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement as written.

The Chancellor also changed the Appellee's obligation to pay his half of the educational expenses of said minor until the minor attended college citing *Southerland v. Southerland* 816 So2d 1004 (Miss 2002) and *Moses v. Moses* 879 So.2d 1043 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The Appellant herein requests that the Court apply *East v. East,* 493 So 2d 927, 931-932 (Miss 1986) and *Bell v. Bell,* 572 So.2d 841, 844 (Miss. 1990) to the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement.

The Chancellor ruled the Appellee did not have to pay his half of past due medical expenses and further modified the Final Decree of Divorce by restricting the Appellant's ability to submit medical bills and restricting the minor's medical providers. The Appellee did not file any Motions to Modify the Judgment of Divorce, never raised any ore tenus Motions for Modification, and came to the Court with "unclean hands." Had the Appellee filed a Motion to Modify, it would have been denied as a matter of law.

The Chancellor refused to increase child support in accordance with Section 43-19-10. A wealth of proof was provided at trial demonstrating that the minor's educational needs constitute an extraordinary expense. The Chancellor also misapplied the child support guidelines resulting in incorrect adjusted gross income. The child support guidelines provided by the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, justified an increase in child support.

Chancellor Bradley denied the Appellant's Rule 60(b) Motion despite unequivocally and unchallenged documentation that the Appellee was making substantially more money income than Appellee disclosed at a prior hearing. The incorrect and incomplete 8.05 Declaration the Appellee submitted at the prior trial was, at best, prepared with a careless indifference to the accuracy of the income information contained therein. The Appellant provided the Chancellor documentation form the Appellee's employer showing that Appellee's income was approximately 50% higher than what the Appellee disclosed on the financial declaration.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## WAS THERE AN AMBIGUITY IN THE PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT CONCERNING EDUCATIONAL EXPENSES

The Judgment of Divorce on July 8, 2005 specifically provided on Pages 5 and 7

respectively the following:

"JESSICA MICHELLE MCLEOD shall have sole paramount *legal and physical* care, custody and control of the minor child of the parties..." (emphasis added)

Section 93-5-24(5) (d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended says "...legal custody means the decision-making rights, the responsibilities and the authority relating to the health, *education* and welfare of a child." (emphasis added)

"Husband and Wife shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of all school and extracurricular expenses incurred by the minor child including but not limited to the cost of books, activity fees, lab fees, school uniforms, *tuition*, and sports equipment..." (emphasis added)

The Appellant had placed the minor child in private school at total annual cost of \$4,545.00 and asked the Chancellor to simply enforce these terms. The Appellee never filed any Motions or other requests for relief from any part of the Divorce Decree. The Chancellor declined stating that the clause was ambiguous and cited *Moses*, supra and *Southerland*, supra. Ultimately the Chancellor found that the"...'tuition' as it applies to the Property Settlement Agreement is intended to mean college tuition for the minor child as the parties never contemplated sending the child to private school". (Page 5 of Judgment)

In *Bell vs. Bell*, supra, this Court ruled that "when parties in a divorce proceeding have reached an agreement that a Chancery Court has approved, it will be enforced, absent fraud or overreaching, and will take a dim view of efforts to modify it just as we ordinarily do when persons seek relief from improvident contracts." We respectfully ask that this Court to remind the Chancellor that she does not have the authority to remove the Appellee from the benefit of bad bargain. Further, the Chancellor committed manifest error by modifying the terms of the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement when the Appellant was seeking enforcement of said Agreement and especially when the Appellee never asked for a modification. The Appellee never filed any pleadings whatsoever in this case.

This Court has in the past enforced property settlement agreements which require the payment of pre-secondary education. In *Durr v. Durr* 912 So2d 1033 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), the Parties were already divorced and said Final Decree of Divorce provided that pre-secondary tuition would be paid by the parents. The Court of Appeals had absolutely no problem with enforcing this provision.

Appellant takes exception to the Chancellor's conclusion that the term "tuition" is ambiguous. Webster's dictionary defines the term ambiguous as meaning "susceptible of multiple interpretations". However when we look at the precise language of the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement, there truly is no ambiguity. Webster's dictionary defines tuition as the "price of or payment for instruction". Therefore tuition can include college tuition, the cost of trade school, junior college tuition, or pre-secondary education. Simply because the term "tuition" is general does not mean it is ambiguous.

The term tuition was not used in a vacuum but was rather just one example of the different types of school expenses both parents would have to pay:

"Husband and Wife shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of all school and extracurricular expenses incurred by the minor child including but not

limited to the cost of books, activity fees, lab fees, school uniforms, *tuition*, and sports equipment..." (emphasis added)

The Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement says "all school ... expenses." There is nothing ambiguous about the terms "all", "school", or "expenses". The phrase "all school expenses" means exactly what it says it means – all school expense. From the language of the PSA, it is clear the Parties chose not to put limitations on the phrase "all school expenses". Instead the parties chose broad terms and even supplied examples of some but not all of the types of school expenses the parties would have to share. For example school uniforms, activity fees, sports equipment and activity fees were all listed as examples of school expenses.

Therefore even if the Chancellor is correct that term "tuition" only means college expenses, her ruling is still erroneous because the Chancellor failed to honor the phrase "all school ... expenses". The term tuition was only an example of the critical phrase "all school ... expenses". So when the Chancellor declined to order the Appellee to pay the private school expenses, she not only modified the term tuition but also the phrase "all school... expenses" without a sound legal basis.

The Parties to a contract are perfectly within their right to use general or specific terms. Since the contract is clear and unambiguous, the Court is obligated to enforce the terms. *Ivision v. Ivision* 762 So2d 329, 335 (Miss 2000). The Chancellor should have found the Appellant in Contempt of Court for non-payment of his one-half (1/2) of the minor's tuition totaling \$2,272.50.

## IF THE PSA IS AMBIGUOUS, THEN THE COURT APPLIED ERRONEOUS LEGAL PRINCIPALS

If the PSA is ambiguous, for the sake of argument, then the Chancellor still applied the wrong legal standard in interpreting the PSA. The Chancellor decided that the Parties ... "never contemplated sending the child to private school". This Court has repeatedly stated that when a contract is in fact ambiguous, the Court looks to the language of the contract for meaning, not the "intent" of the parties. (*Ivision* and *Landry v Moody Grisham Agency* 181 So2d 134, 139 (1965)). The Court looks to the four corners of the document to determine the intent of the parties.

The Chancellor was supposed to focus on the language employed in the contract and not what the parties may have meant or intended. *Shaw v. Burchfield* 481 So2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985) Instead the Chancellor, over the objection of the Appellant, looked to what the Appellee thought the phrase meant. The Chancellor also found relevant what was going on with the minor and what was going on between the parties and where the minor was attending school when the agreement was signed. (Transcript Page 133 Lines 16-26). The Chancellor wrote that the phrase "...'tuition' as it applies to the Property Settlement Agreement is intended to mean college tuition for the minor child as the parties never contemplated sending the child to private school". (Page 5 of Judgment)

Mississippi has long established rules for the interpretation of contracts. The plain meaning of the contract controls. Webster's Dictionary defines tuition as "the price of or payment for instruction." It is difficult to imagine that the term tuition needs clarification.

"In construing a written instrument, the task of the courts is to ascertain the intent of the parties from the four corners of the instrument. Courts look at the

instrument under consideration as a whole and determine what the parties intended by giving a fair consideration to the entire instrument and all words used in it. When a written instrument is clear, definite, explicit, harmonious in all its provisions, and is free from ambiguity, a court in construing it will look solely to the language used in the instrument itself. In such a case a court will give effect to all parts of the instrument as written." *Pfisterer v. Noble*, 320 So. 2d 383, 384 (Miss. 1975).

"We have also historically recognized that parties may upon the dissolution of their marriage have a property settlement agreement incorporated in the divorce decree, and such property settlement agreement is not subject to modification. A true and genuine property settlement agreement is no different from any other contract, and the mere fact that it is between a divorcing husband and wife, and incorporated in a divorce decree, does not change its character..." (emphasis added) *East v. East*, 493 So. 2d 927, 931-32 (Miss. 1986)

In *East v. East*, supra, the Supreme Court clearly acknowledges that a property settlement agreement is a contract. The language of this Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement was clear and concise. The Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement specifically lays out each and every responsibility of each Party and was signed of each Parties own free will. Five (5) years have lapsed between the execution of the document and the time where the Appellee requested an interpretation. The Appellee had been paying the minors other school expenses without question. (See Exhibit 5) Since the term "tuition" is not qualified or limited to any specific type, the learned Chancellor exceeded the scope of authority when she interpreted the meaning of tuition when the Parties entered into the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement they chose not to limit tuition to specifically college.

For the sake of argument, if the term tuition is unclear or needs to be interpreted, we must first look to the language surrounding the phrase tuition i.e. place term in context.

"Husband and Wife shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of all school and extracurricular expenses incurred by the minor child including but not limited to the cost of books, activity fees, lab fees, school uniforms, tuition, and sports equipment." (Page 7 Paragraph C of the Judgment of Divorce)

The Agreement specifically says *all* school expenses. Therefore this can only mean all school expenses. The phrase tuition was meant to demonstrate examples of the types of school expenses for which each party was to be responsible. So the question becomes how does the phrase "all school expenses" be subject to interpretation by the Chancellor? If the Parties intended for the school expenses be limited to college only there would have been no mention of school uniforms. The Child Support, Child Custody and Property Settlement Agreement specifically mentions the payment of school uniforms and the Appellee admits he knows of no college or university that requires uniforms (Transcript Page 179 Lines 27-29).

If the term "tuition" is ambiguous as the Appellee claimed at trial, why did he not file pleadings requesting an interpretation or requesting relief from his obligation to pay tuition prior to being sued for contempt? (Transcript Page 180 Lines 17-20).

The question of ambiguity is a fiction created by the Appellee's counsel since the Appellee never questioned the meaning of tuition prior to trial or in his written correspondence to the Appellant (Exhibit 7) (Transcript Page 181 Lines 10-28).

On cross-examination, the Appellee admits that his real or biggest objection to paying the tuition was due to cost and his supposed inability to pay (Transcript Page 148 Lines 14, 17, 20 and Pages 149 Lines 1, 3, 6, 8, 10).

The Chancellor's finding the term tuition is subject to interpretation is clearly erroneous when said term has a clear and plain meaning. The Chancellor committed manifest error when she failed to apply the "Four Corners Doctrine" and *East v. East* to the Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement.

## DID THE CHANCELLOR COMMIT MANIFEST ERROR IN REFUSING TO INCREASE CHILD SUPPRT UNDER 43-19-103

In addition to her Motion for Contempt, the Appellant had requested an increase in support. Section 43-19-103 of the Mississippi Code states in part that "the rebuttable presumption as the justice or appropriateness of an award…based upon the guidelines established in Section 43-19-101, may be overcome by a judicial or administrative body awarding or modifying the child support award by making a written finding or a specific finding on the record that the application of the guidelines would be unjust or inappropriate in a particular case as determined according to the following criteria:

(a) Extraordinary medical, psychological, educational or dental expenses...

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