IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00944

JESSICA MICHELLE MCLEOD MENARD

APPELLANT

V.

ANTHONY SCOTT MCLEOD

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

JESSICA MICHELLE MCLEOD MENARD

ANTHONY SCOTT MCLEOD

MARK V. KNIGHTEN, ESQ.

JELLIOT G. MESTAYER, ESQ.

HONORABLE JAYE A. BRADLEY

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TRIAL COURT JUDGE

MARK V. KNIGHTEN, ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR APPELLEE ANTHONY SCOTT MCLEOD

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In summary, Anthony McLeod contends that the numerous contempt allegations alledged by the Appellant were meritless as found by the Chancellor. In all deference to the Trial Court, it was found that he owed the Appellant \$25.00 for a medical bill although he maintained he never received the bill. (R.E. no. 3 at pg. 3). The Trial Court further found that a modification of child support was unwarranted in that the parties had agreed to the child support figure of \$350.00 per month and the trial Court found no reason to deviate from the guidelines. (R.E. no. 3 at pg. 6).

ARGUMENT

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

"[The appellate court] will not disturb a chancellor's judgment when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Chapel v. Chapel*, 876 So.2d 290, 292 (Miss. 2004). "Under this standard of review, our purpose is to determine whether the chancellor's ruling was supported by credible evidence, not whether we agree with that ruling. *Lee v. Lee*, 798 So.2d 1284, 1290(Miss.2001). However, a property settlement agreemen is a contractual obligation. *East v. East*, 493 So.2d 927, 931-32 (Miss.1986). Contract interpretation, as a question of law, is reviewed de novo. *Warwick v. Gautier Utility Dist.*, 738 So.2d 212, 215 (Miss.1999)."

Based upon the standard of review noted above, the Appellee will focus on the evidence

supporting the Chancellor's decision as it pertains to the issues raised by the Appellant as

error and the applicable law pertaining to same.

II. <u>NO ERROR WAS COMMITTED BY THE CHANCELLOR IN FINDING AN</u> <u>AMBIGUITY IN THE CHILD CUSTODY, CHILD SUPPORT AND</u> <u>PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT CONCERNING EDUCATIONAL</u> <u>EXPENSES</u>

As previously noted, the Complaint, Property Settlement Agreement and Judgment of Divorce were all personally prepared by the Appellant, Jessica Menard who in fact was a legal secretary for her attorney. (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 182). At the time of the divorce, the minor child of the parties, Anna Noelle McLeod, was six (6) years of age and she attended public school in Mobile, Alabama. At that time, the child had not attended a private school and did not so attend a private school until the year 2009, some 5 years later. (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 132:15-133:1). Further, it is undisputed that Menard removed the child from public school without contacting or consulting McLeod and expected him to pay one-half of the expenses associated with same. (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 55:16-26 and 61). As previously noted and as it pertains to the educational aspects of the minor child of the parties, the Property Settlement Agreement provides:

C. <u>School and Extracurricular Expenses:</u> Husband and Wife shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of all school and extracurricular expenses incurred by the minor child including but not limited to the cost of books, activity fees, lab fees, school uniforms, tuition, and sports equipment. Husband shall pay on August 1 and January 1 of each year, the sum of \$150.00 towards the cost of new clothes for the minor child.

(R.E. no. 2 at III. sub.para. C)

The question before this Court is whether the term "tuition" as found in the aforementioned includes private school tuition. Upon being asked his understanding of what that term meant, Mr. McLeod stated that it was his understanding that it referred to college related expenses (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 133:6-15). When asked about the negotiations leading up to the signing of this document, Mr. McLeod relayed that there was never a discussion or any indication that Menard was going to place the child in a private school and that had he known it was related to private school, he would have never signed the document. (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 135:6-9). The term "tuition" was not defined in the Property Settlement Agreement and Mr. McLeod clearly felt it referred to college related expenses and consequently refused to pay the private school tuition bills that Menard gave to him to pay. The Chancellor likewise found ambiguity in the term in that the court stated upon objection that "…..it doesn't say one way or the other, it just says tuition". (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 133:16-27).

In the case of Harris v. Harris, 988 So.2d 376, 378 (Miss. 2008), this court noted:

" [w]here terms of a contract are ambiguous, the contract will be interpreted in a reasonable manner. We held that it is a question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous. In the event of an ambiguity, the subsequent interpretation presents a question of fact for the trier of fact which we review under a substantial evidence/manifest error standard." *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Abernathy*, 913 So.2d 278, 283 (Miss.2005).

In the case sub-judice, the learned Chancellor did just that when she noted during objections on the subject matter "....So I think he can testify as to what he thought that meant, or what his intent was at the time he signed the document. And it will be up to the court to decide whether that is a reasonable explanation or not..." (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 133:28-134:4). The Chancellor noted in her ruling that the cost of secondary school tuition is included in the statutory guidelines for child support and is "not an extraordinary expense". (R.E. no. 3 at pg. 5). In support of her position, she correctly cited <u>Moses v. Moses</u>, 879 So.2d 1043 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) and <u>Southerland v. Southerland</u>, 816 So.2d 1004 (Miss. 2002) and exonerated Mr. McLeod of the contempt citation. Indeed, the court noted in *Southerland* at 1006 that:

"... this Court has stated that school tuition, at least in the context of college, is part of child support. *See Mizell v. Mizell*, 708 So.2d 55, 60 (Miss. 1998). Any pre-college school requiring tuition in addition to what a public school education would cost should also be treated in this manner."

Although the Chancellor did not use the term "ambiguous" in her ruling she did find that the term was intended by the parties to mean college tuition as there was no evidence before the court to suggest the parties ever contemplated sending the child to private school. Indeed, Mr. McLeod offered the only evidence presented on the issue and he said it was not contemplated nor was it even discussed sending the minor child to private school, certainly, there was no agreement. At the time of the execution of the Agreement in 2005, the minor child was in the public school system in Mobile, Alabama and did not enter private schooling until 2009. On the contrary, Menard unilaterally decided to place the child in private school without even discussing it with McLeod and expected Mr. McLeod to pay for it.

In light of the fact that the relevant paragraph mentions additional items such as cost of books and lab fees, the chancellor fulfilled her duty of "reasonableness" in the interpretation of the term "tuition" as espoused in *Harris* and *Abernathy*. Our courts have held in contract construction that " when the terms of a contract are vague or ambiguous, they are always construed more strongly against the party preparing it." <u>Harris</u>, at 379, *citing Banks v. Banks*, 648 So.2d 1116, 1121 (Miss. 1994). It is undisputed in the case sub judice that the drafter of the Property Settlement Agreement was Jessica Menard (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 182:9-19) and this ambiguity should rightfully be construed against Ms. Menard.

In short, the Court exonerated Mr. McLeod of the contempt allegations of the Appellant. Contrary to the assertion by the Appellant that the Chancellor modified the Agreement, the Chancellor merely provided a reasonable interpretation of what the parties intended by the term "tuition".

This assignment of error is without merit.

III. <u>THERE WAS NO ERRONEOUS LEGAL PRINCIPAL APPLIED BY THE</u> <u>CHANCELLOR</u>

The Chancellor made her ruling and cited authority to make the ruling she made. The decision of the trial Court is well founded in Mississippi law and is supported by substantial evidence. Under this assignment of error, the Appellant attempts to twist the contract construction law of this state to suit her own purposes. To the extent that the Appellant believes that the intent of the parties has no place in the contract construction laws of this state, she is simply misguided and has no understanding of the law.

As of this writing, the most authoritative law concerning contract construction out of Mississippi that undersigned counsel can find is that of <u>In re Dissolution of Marriage of Wood</u>, 35 So.3rd 507 (Miss. 2010). In <u>Wood</u> at 513 this Court noted as follows:

"This Court uses a three-tiered approach to contract interpretation. Put simply, step one is to look to the four corners of the agreement to attempt to translate a clear understanding of the parties' **intent**; only if that intent remains illusive may a court apply the canons of contract construction or turn to parol evidence. *Harris v. Harris*, **988** So.2d 376, 378-79 (Miss.2008) (citing *Tupelo Redev. Agency v. Abernathy*, 913 So.2d 278, 283 (Miss.2005)). " [I]t is a question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous. In the event of an ambiguity, the subsequent interpretation presents a question of fact for the trier of fact which we review under a substantial evidence/manifest error standard." *Harris*, 988 So.2d at 378. " Where terms of a contract are ambiguous, the contract will be interpreted in a reasonable manner." (emphasis added)

The Chancellor in the case sub judice did precisely that. While the Appellant contends the ambiguity was "created" by undersigned counsel, it is quite apparent from the record that the Chancellor herself was unsure of the meaning and intent of the parties as to the term "tuition" as evidenced by the Chancellors comments when she stated upon objection that "....it doesn't say one way or the other, it just says tuition". (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 133:16-27). Thereafter, the Chancellor allowed parol evidence when she allowed Mr. McLeod to testify concerning his understanding of the term as evidenced by the Chancellor when she noted again on objection "....So I think he can testify as to what he thought that meant, or what his intent was at the time he signed the document. And it will be up to the court to decide whether that is a reasonable explanation or not..." (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 133:28-134:4). Mr. McLeod stated that he understood it to mean "college expenses" (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 133) and **no one** disputed his testimony. The Chancellor applied a reasonable interpretation of the term "tuition" which she found to be "college expenses" which is in accordance with the testimony of Mr. McLeod and the only interpretation in evidence. Appellant complains that the lower court modified the Agreement of the parties and that Appellee failed to file pleadings requesting an "interpretation" of the ambiguous term. What Appellant apparently fails to understand is that this was an action she filed for contempt. In order for the court to determine if Mr. McLeod was in contempt, she had to ascertain the meaning of the word "tuition". The Court applied a reasonable meaning based upon the evidence before the court and quite simply found Mr. McLeod to not be in contempt on this issue.

Appellant further complains that Mr. McLeod failed to file any answer or responsive pleadings to request any relief from the Court. What Appellant fails to understand is that Mr. McLeod is not required to file anything. See M.R.Civ.P. Rule 81(d)(4) (No answer or responsive pleadings are required).

Under this assignment of error, the Appellant contends that the Court modified the Agreement of the parties which is simply not the case. As noted in her ruling,

"The Court refuses to find Anthony in contempt of court for his failure to pay one-half (1/2) of the minor child's private school tuition and Jessica's Motion for Citation of Contempt on this issue is denied." (R.E. no. 3 at pg. 5).

The Chancellor merely provided a reasonable interpretation of the term "tuition" based upon the evidence that was before the Court. There was no modification of the prior orders of the lower court.

This assignment of error is without merit.

IV. <u>THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED NO ERROR IN THE ASSESSMENT OF</u> <u>CHILD SUPPORT</u>

This assignment of error by Appellant deals with her attempt to explain away the unilateral move of the child out of the public school system and into the private school system as justification for the court to find the expenses associated with same as "child support" within the meaning of the appropriate guidelines. It is important to note for this assignment of error that the child was removed from the public school system in September of 2009. (R.E. no. 4 Trial Ex. 5, letter of September 8, 2009).

In support of this contention, and in an apparent attempt to create "extraordinary expenses" justifying departure from the child support guidelines, Appellant relies on the testimony of she and her mother as the basis for the unilateral move of the minor child for the alledged bullying of the child in the public school system and poor grade performance. While the Appellant contends that she contacted numerous school officials and even the school board attorney, not one witness was ever called by the Appellant to support this contention.

Mr. McLeod did call the school principal (Catteria Payton) to testify concerning the reasons the Appellant gave the school for the child's removal. According to Ms. Payton, she was present in her office the very day that the Appellant appeared to withdraw the minor from Central Elementary School. According to Ms. Payton, Menard appeared at school and informed Ms. Payton's secretary that she was withdrawing the child and she was going to place her in the private school system. When asked how she was going to afford the private school costs, Menard responded that her "boss" was going to pay for it. When questioned as to why she was being removed, Menard stated that "....the minor was failing math and couldn't even ask Mrs. Hudson a single question." When told that Mrs. Hudson doesn't teach math, Ms Byrd does, Menard responded "I am not going to waste my time, it's done. My boss is going to pay for it." (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 74:17-75:14). Further, by the time Menard had withdrawn the minor from Central Elementary, the child had not even received the first progress report for her 5th grade year. Indeed, at the time of withdrawal of the minor child, her grades at Central was a "B" in math, an "A" in everything else and a "C" in science which was related a "lack of effort" and not a "lack of ability" (R.E. no. 1 at pg. 75:27-76:4). During the minor's 5th grade school year and up to the

14

minor's withdrawal, there had been no complaints by Menard of harassment or bullying. (R.E. no. 1. at 74:9-13).

When questioned concerning prior complaints of bullying of the minor child, Ms. Payton recalled two incidents in the prior school year (January 2009 and the minor's 4th grade year) wherein she met with Menard about the subject. There were no further complaints by Menard, academic or otherwise, until she withdrew the child in September of 2009. (R.E. no. 1 at 84:10-20). The minor's grades for her 4th grade year were excellent. (R.E. no. 1 at 83:15-19).

Further, although the Appellant maintains that the child was being seen by Singing River Services and Dr. Stoudenmire (a clinical psychologist) for alledged emotional trama as a result of the "harassment and bullying", the medical records of the minor child fail to mention anything about this prior to the minor being withdrawn from Central. (R.E. no. 1 at 117:22-119:14 and 155-161).

This assignment of error is without merit.

V. <u>THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED NO ERROR IN HER RULING ON PAST</u> <u>DUE MEDICAL EXPENSES</u>

In accordance with the Judgment of Divorce and accompanying Property Settlement Agreement, the parties were to equally split all medical expenses "*not covered by insurance.*" (R.E. no. 2 at III. Sub para B)(emphasis added). The issue before the lower Court was whether Mr. McLeod was in contempt of court for failing to pay these expenses.

At trial and as found by the lower court Judge, there were four medical bills Menard claimed were not paid:

a. \$32.50 to Dr. Stoudenmire

b. \$146.92 to Singing River Hospital

c. \$20.00 to the Medicine Shope

d. \$25.00 to the Bienville Orthopedics

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